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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning and

          3  welcome to this hearing -- afternoon.  Good

          4  afternoon, and welcome to this hearing on the

          5  Committee of Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

          6                 My name is Yvette Clarke, Chair of

          7  the Committee.  And today we will be considering

          8  Intro. 456-A, which would amend the New York City

          9  Charter to require the Office of the Criminal

         10  Justice Coordinator to produce an annual report

         11  assessing the representation provided by

         12  organizations and the panels of attorneys contracted

         13  to provide indigent legal defense in the City.

         14                 Currently, there exist what we term

         15  an information vacuum with regard to the City's

         16  Legal Defense Bar.  The City is spending over $200

         17  million per year on indigent legal defense, but

         18  provides the public with little information on these

         19  services.  In contrast, there are entire sections of

         20  the Mayor's Management Report reviewing the

         21  performance of City agencies which similarly sized

         22  budgets, such as DFTA, the Department for the Aging,

         23  Department of Youth and Community Development,

         24  Finance, DoITT, and the Department of Juvenile

         25  Justice.
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          2                 Each budget cycle the City Council

          3  gets into a back and forth with the Mayor's Office

          4  where the Council adds money for providers that

          5  Council views is providing high- quality

          6  representation, but the Administration views as

          7  costing too much. The Council's general impression

          8  is that while emphasis is appropriately placed on

          9  reducing the cost of representation, more could be

         10  done to ensure that the Legal Defense Bar has

         11  sufficient resources to always provide quality

         12  representation.

         13                 At our last hearing on this

         14  legislation, many witnesses, including the Criminal

         15  Justice Coordinator supported having a more

         16  comprehensive reporting mechanism, but had concerns

         17  with the specific data the legislation would

         18  require.  In recognition of these legitimate

         19  concerns, we have substantially revised Intro. 456-

         20  A.  The legislation would now require that the

         21  Criminal Justice Coordinator produce a report on the

         22  City's indigent legal representation, but leaves it

         23  up to the Criminal Justice Coordinator to determine

         24  the nature of this report and the information it

         25  should contain.
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          2                 The Criminal Justice Coordinator will

          3  be joining us at 3:30, excuse me, at 2:30, 2:30, I

          4  saw everyone look at their watches.  So, I would

          5  like to begin this hearing with the testimony of the

          6  City's legal providers.

          7                 Having said that, I welcome everyone

          8  again to this hearing, and I ask that Caroline

          9  Kearney representing the Legal Services of New York

         10  come forward to give her testimony at this time.

         11                 MS. KEARNEY:  Good afternoon.  I am

         12  Caroline Kearney.  I am the Family Law Coordinator

         13  at Legal Services for New York City, and I thank you

         14  very much for inviting me to come and testify about

         15  this important issue.  We really appreciate the

         16  Council's dedication to the cause of high- quality

         17  representation for the poor.

         18                 LSNY is the only legal services

         19  program in New York City that has decades of

         20  experience in representing parents in child

         21  protective and termination of parental rights cases,

         22  as well as domestic violence and custody cases.  And

         23  therefore we are in a unique position to address

         24  this issue as it pertains to Family Court

         25  representation.
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          2                 We applaud, again, your decision to

          3  focus on the quality of services, and not just on

          4  the cost.  I think it is equally important that when

          5  you are thinking about cost to think about cost

          6  savings that result from high- quality

          7  representation, such as reduced time children spend

          8  in foster care, more efficient use of court time,

          9  because of thorough out- of- court preparation, and

         10  reduction in subsidized adoptions when families get

         11  reunited.

         12                 It is clear that from Intro. 456- A

         13  that the Council knows what the components of

         14  quality representation are. And thanks to the

         15  Council, LSNY has been able to provide that kind of

         16  representation to a small number of clients through

         17  our keeping families together initiative that you

         18  have funded since 2002.

         19                 Two years ago we conducted a random

         20  study of our cases closed in the previous two years,

         21  and the results showed that our interdisciplinary

         22  and holistic approach to representation was very

         23  effective in reuniting families, shortening foster

         24  care stays, and reducing the length of time it takes

         25  to resolve cases.
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          2                 While it is important to gather

          3  empirical data, the reporting requirements of Intro.

          4  456- A would be expensive and time consuming.  If

          5  these additional requirements are imposed,

          6  additional money must be made available for that

          7  purpose.  While institutional providers, such as

          8  LSNY, are in a better position than solo

          9  practitioners on the 18- b panel to collect data

         10  through our computerized case management systems,

         11  additional reporting requirements would be

         12  burdensome to all and would drain resources that

         13  would be better spent on representing clients.

         14                 Furthermore, I am concerned that

         15  Intro. 456- A provides no mechanism for analyzing

         16  whatever data is collected. More importantly I am

         17  concerned that requiring an annual report is too

         18  long term a strategy for achieving effective models

         19  of representation.  The Council is already very

         20  familiar with the problems with the current system

         21  of representation and with successful alternative

         22  models.  What is lacking is hard data about what

         23  kind of representation is suited for which cases,

         24  and a true cost comparison between the various

         25  models.
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          2                 We propose, not that you asked me to

          3  speak about this today, that the Council support

          4  expanded funding for LSNY's Family Court

          5  representation to create a large enough alternative

          6  model for comparison with panel representation.  And

          7  then fund a social science research project to

          8  determine what data should be gathered, how it could

          9  be collected and analyzed for the purpose of future

         10  planning for indigent representation.  LSNY offices

         11  would be delighted to cooperate with such a research

         12  project.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Caroline, yes,

         15  before, you are not off the hot seat yet.

         16                 MS. KEARNEY:  Okay, I'm sorry.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I just wanted to

         18  ask a couple of things.  When we first heard this

         19  legislation, LSNY was in favor of it.  I guess you

         20  have had an opportunity to sort of, I guess, think

         21  it through again.

         22                 Could you, I guess expand a bit more

         23  on what you saw as being onerous to the providers in

         24  terms of the reporting mechanism?  You also raise

         25  the issue of it being an annual report, and that
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          2  that may not get to the heart of what we are trying

          3  to accomplish in terms of doing a comparative

          4  analysis with programs that currently exist and with

          5  the, and determining the quality versus quantity

          6  type of?

          7                 MS. KEARNEY:  I think that is a

          8  couple of questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes.

         10                 MS. KEARNEY:  The annual report, my

         11  concern about the annual report is that I would

         12  think that you would have to have a number of

         13  reports before you would be able to have the data

         14  that you would need to make comparisons.  But my

         15  bigger concern really is who is going to analyze, or

         16  what is going to be collected, who is going to

         17  analyze it, and by what measures? You, I think, have

         18  acknowledge the difficulty of measuring quality,

         19  because sometimes a case can go very badly, and it

         20  is not because the lawyering was bad, but because

         21  the facts were bad for instance.

         22                 So I am concerned about, as I said,

         23  who is going to decide, and are you going to have

         24  real social science research looking at this

         25  subject?
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          2                 So the first part of your question

          3  was.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, when we had

          5  the first hearing on this legislation, LSNY was in

          6  favor of it.

          7                 MS. KEARNEY:  Actually our position

          8  was the same, that we were very much in favor of the

          9  idea of collecting data, but I am concerned whether

         10  this bill will be successful in achieving in that.

         11                 And in terms of the burden, you did

         12  ask about the burden.  LSNY for certain, and I don't

         13  know about the other providers has to do a lot of

         14  reporting to a lot of different funders, and even

         15  though we do have a computerized case management

         16  system, it is still, it does require a lot of work

         17  to prepare these reports.  And I am not sure that

         18  our system at this point is really capable of

         19  capturing the kind of qualitative data that you are

         20  talking about.  You know, and so if we were going to

         21  modify it in order to do this, I think we would have

         22  to hire a consultants to figure out how to modify

         23  it, what we would be looking for, how we would we be

         24  capturing it?  That is my concern.  And as I said

         25  for the 18- b panel there is no centralized source,
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          2  and I think that it would add a lot to each

          3  practitioner's load to try be doing more reporting

          4  than they do right now, which is their time

          5  reporting, and would take away from representation

          6  of clients.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right now we

          8  kind of focus a lot on the cost, and that is always

          9  the challenge, particularly around the budget season

         10  when we are looking at addressing the comprehensive

         11  needs for the indigent defense network that we have

         12  in the City of New York.  Wouldn't any move towards

         13  quality be an improvement on the present situation?

         14                 MS. KEARNEY:  Yes, it certainly

         15  would.  I mean, as I began by saying, I think the

         16  focus on quality is a really important one.  And it

         17  is true that the Administration does look at

         18  outcomes in many other areas, and it makes a lot of

         19  sense to spend your limited budget money on proven

         20  good outcomes.  So yes, I am completely in favor of

         21  the idea, and I am just concerned about the process

         22  by which we get there.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  I think

         24  that one of the things in sort of taking a look at

         25  we have to advance during the budget season is this
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          2  whole issue of quality.  And we know that there is

          3  an RFP process by which the Criminal Justice

          4  Coordinator's Office went about, I guess,

          5  determining the certain providers, or the majority

          6  of providers that are funded by the City of New York

          7  for these services.  Perhaps we have a number of the

          8  tools already in place in terms of, at least,

          9  identifying some of the questions, some of the, I

         10  guess, areas in which we could begin to shape some

         11  of what could ultimately be a reporting mechanism.

         12  I am sure that there are specific outcomes and

         13  specific tasks that are to be performed by the

         14  various providers. And I am sure that you all have,

         15  in your internal working, established certain

         16  indicators and benchmarks for the work that you do.

         17  And I guess part of my thinking is that, you know,

         18  we wouldn't necessarily ask the Criminal Justice

         19  Coordinator to develop this type of instrument in a

         20  vacuum.  As you stated, you know, we could look at

         21  the academic realm as a partner in this, as well as

         22  those of you who are practitioners in the field, and

         23  perhaps come up with some sort of grouping that

         24  could work with the CJC to establish this protocol

         25  for determining what we are talking about in terms
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          2  of quality tier.  And then that could be utilized as

          3  what would go into a reporting mechanism that would

          4  not be onerous, but would basically incorporate some

          5  of what you already do for some of your funders.

          6                 Have you given any thought to that?

          7                 MS. KEARNEY:  Well as I said we did

          8  conduct our own internal study in order to convince

          9  the Criminal Justice Coordinator that in fact we

         10  were providing high quality representation, and that

         11  we were worth the money that we were being paid for

         12  doing it.  We did it not through our case management

         13  system, but rather by a review of files.  We came up

         14  with a list of questions, and certainly, I think

         15  they were getting at the question of quality.  For

         16  instance, how long did children remain in foster

         17  care once we began representing their parents, how

         18  long did the court case last?  It gives you some

         19  sense of it.

         20                 I am actually sorry that the Criminal

         21  Justice Coordinator didn't speak before we did,

         22  because I know that last year he said that he was

         23  working on this and would have something ready

         24  within a year, and I am curious to know what it is.

         25  It would have been nice to be able to respond to and
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          2  find out what they are thinking about how to do this

          3  kind of measurement.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well I want to

          5  thank you, your comments have been very helpful, and

          6  your testimony will certainly help us to shape out

          7  this process as we move forward. Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MS. KEARNEY:  Thank you, and I

         10  appreciate the opportunity to talk to you, thanks.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I am going to

         12  ask Lynn Fahey of the Appellate Advocates, as well

         13  as Robert Dean of the Center for Appellate

         14  Litigation, to come forth with their testimony at

         15  this time.  Oh, we are going to need some additional

         16  chairs.

         17                 MS. FAHEY:  Good afternoon.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I don't think

         19  you are on, push the button.

         20                 MS. FAHEY:  Okay, now, I think, yes?

         21  Thank you.

         22                 Let me introduce myself and Mr.

         23  Macintosh first. I am Lynn Fahey, this is Winston

         24  Macintosh, we are two of the people who head

         25  Appellate Advocates.  We represent indigent criminal
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          2  defendants on appeal and the Appellate's Second

          3  Department.  We have been in existence for a little

          4  over nine years now.  We have represented a little

          5  over 3,200 clients in that time.

          6                 Let me say, first, thank you for

          7  letting us speak today.  We very much appreciate

          8  what the Council does to support the work of the

          9  indigent defense community, and I think it is very

         10  important.  I think it is particularly important

         11  that organizations rather than just individuals

         12  represent the majority of criminal defendants in the

         13  system in New York City, because organizations can

         14  provide resources, supervision, and quality control

         15  in a way that individual attorneys can't.  Not to

         16  say that there aren't some wonderful 18- b

         17  attorneys, but you don't have the same kinds of

         18  quality control as you do with the organizations.

         19  And I think all of the organization that function in

         20  New York City in recent years are excellent ones who

         21  do a very good, high- quality job of providing

         22  representation for their clients.

         23                 I think it is particularly a great

         24  thing that the Council has funded and kept alive,

         25  the Office of the Appellate Defender and the
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          2  Neighborhood of Defender Services.  I know both

          3  organizations very well, they are great

          4  organizations and they add a tremendous amount to

          5  the diversity of representation that is available in

          6  New York City to giving the City a basis to compare

          7  different approaches and to just providing overall a

          8  high quality of representation.

          9                 I think this proposal is a good one.

         10  I would not have said the same of last year's

         11  proposal, because I think the specifics meant that

         12  you could have very easily ended up comparing apples

         13  and oranges.  There is a tremendous diversity in the

         14  practice of indigent defense work from borough- to-

         15  borough, from Appellate Division- to- Appellate

         16  Division, and even from year- to- year.  This year

         17  we are doing a lot of drug re sentencings under the

         18  Rockefeller Reform Law.  That varies a lot from

         19  county- to- county, how complicated that practice

         20  is, how many cases there are.  So I think it is

         21  important to have a certain amount of flexibility,

         22  gather a broad spectrum of data, and then decide on

         23  the given year and the given context where you go

         24  with it and what that means as to quality.

         25                 But the more focus we have on
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          2  quality, the better. The more focus on indigent

          3  defense the better, I think.  The more funding that

          4  is brought to the table, the better.  We have spent

          5  our lives representing poor people, and I think it

          6  is very important how society treats the poorest

          7  among us.  It is very important how society treats

          8  the least popular members of society.  And if you do

          9  this work for long, you realize that it can be

         10  difficult, you don't have the natural constituency

         11  when you are talking about indigent criminal

         12  defendants, that you do when you are talking about

         13  lots of other segments of the population.

         14                 So I think it is the more involved

         15  the Council becomes, and the more it looks at

         16  quality, the more it will see the advantage of

         17  diversity, the advantage of having a lot of groups

         18  that are all supported adequately, and I think that

         19  is a very good thing.

         20                 What I would suggest is that there

         21  are lots of differences between different practice

         22  areas and different courts.  So what I would suggest

         23  is that once you assemble data, and you start

         24  looking at it, that you allow the individual groups

         25  to have some input.  So, for example, if you have a
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          2  concern, well why did you have this many cases of

          3  this type, and only that many of that type, that we

          4  be given an opportunity to explain, oh well, the

          5  Appellate Division, the First Department in the

          6  Appellate Division, the Second Department, are

          7  different, their rules are different.  That is the

          8  explanation for something you may see that you may

          9  think is troubling, it is not really troubling.  And

         10  there may be advantages to me, there may be

         11  advantages to a First Department group that are

         12  unfair if you look at the just raw numbers.  And I

         13  think that is always the problem when you are

         14  gathering data.

         15                 We currently provide a lot of data to

         16  the Criminal Justice Coordinator's Office.  We do

         17  quarterly reports that are very thorough in terms of

         18  number of cases, type of case, timeliness of

         19  perfection of appeals and that sort of thing.  I

         20  don't know what additional data you might want.  It

         21  is very hard to ask any group to evaluate its own

         22  quality.  I mean, I think we provide extremely high

         23  quality, and every group will tell you that, and I

         24  think that is true of every group, actually.  So for

         25  that you might have to look elsewhere, you might
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          2  have to ask the courts, you might have to ask the

          3  prosecutors of the people who see our work and the

          4  work of all these groups on a day- to- day basis to

          5  make a fair evaluation of the quality that is

          6  provided. But we do give the Criminal Justice Office

          7  a lot data every quarter, and that would certainly

          8  be a starting point in terms of looking at what

          9  cases cost, how much work you get for the money you

         10  are laying out, and so forth.

         11                 So I think this proposal is an

         12  extremely good start, and we think it is a very good

         13  idea.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         15                 MR. DEAN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         16  is Robert Dean.  I am the Attorney- In- Charge for

         17  the Center for Appellate Litigation.  To my left is

         18  Carol Zeldin who is my Deputy.  I would like to

         19  thank the Council for giving us the opportunity to

         20  testify today.

         21                 We are a First Department alternate

         22  provider.  We represent indigent defendants in the

         23  Appellate Division First Department, also the New

         24  York Court of Appeals, and we also do motions, such

         25  as drug, resentence motions in the trial court.
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          2                 Just to give you some perspective as

          3  to the amount of work we do, approximately 40

          4  percent of the criminal decisions that come out of

          5  the First Department every year, come out of our

          6  office.  I am not talking about just the indigent

          7  providers, but 40 percent of all decisions that come

          8  out of the Appellate Division First Department are

          9  cases out of our office.  So our office does have a

         10  significant presence in the First Department.

         11                 I actually echo and agree with

         12  everything that Lynn Fahey just said.  So I am not

         13  going to repeat it all, but I would like to state

         14  our basic position, which is that we are in favor of

         15  the bill.  We believe that anything that shines

         16  light on the area of indigent defense is a good

         17  thing.  That support for indigent defense is

         18  generally not voter driven.  So like Fire and Police

         19  and even libraries, nobody goes around saying, gee,

         20  I am going to vote against that politician because

         21  of indigent defense.  So anything that would shine a

         22  light on indigent defense, as far as we are

         23  concerned, is good.

         24                 We think that the bill is much better

         25  now than it was last year.  Last year the individual
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          2  factors listed were not good ones, they were not

          3  necessarily indicators of quality.  I think

          4  indicators of quality vary from borough- to-

          5  borough, from department- to- department, and five

          6  years from now the indicators that you write now

          7  could be completely irrelevant, and there is no

          8  reason to enshrine into law.  I think it is not

          9  unfair to put, in the first instance, the decision

         10  as to measuring cost and quality on the Coordinator

         11  to report to the Council.

         12                 In terms of whether the bill is

         13  onerous on us, in terms of our reporting, I think,

         14  no.  I think not necessarily, because we already

         15  provide a lot of data to the Coordinator on a

         16  quarterly basis, we do reports to the Indigent

         17  Defense Organization Oversight Committee in the

         18  First Department, and we keep our own internal data,

         19  which we would be willing to share, if somebody

         20  asked us.  So I don't really think that this would

         21  be onerous upon our organization.  Whether it would

         22  be onerous upon the Coordinator's Office, I have no

         23  idea.

         24                 I think there are indicators that one

         25  could look to with one had a discerning eye and had
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          2  a knowledge of the background of the work we do.  If

          3  you don't have a knowledge of the background of the

          4  work we do, you are not going to be able to look at

          5  the statistics and make heads or tails out of them.

          6                 But I think the Coordinator's Office

          7  probably does have the ability to gather that data

          8  and look at it, and come to some conclusions in the

          9  first instance.

         10                 And what I would really like to do is

         11  answer any questions that you have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to

         13  thank both offices for your testimony here today,

         14  and take a moment to acknowledge my colleagues.  One

         15  of the faithful ones, I like to call him, is Council

         16  Member Tony Avella of Queens, and of course, Council

         17  Member Alan Gerson of Manhattan.

         18                 Let me ask a couple of things because

         19  they're a couple of questions I guess that just have

         20  been rolling around in my head, after hearing some

         21  of the testimony here, and it has to do with the

         22  diversity of services.  And how we capture that, I

         23  guess, in an evaluative tool that gets to the

         24  specifics around quality.  And is that something

         25  that each individual organization has defined for
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          2  itself, and is there a common denominator? Because

          3  as you speak, you know, as a Council member, am

          4  someone who is very in tuned with the work of

          5  indigent defense from every part of the spectrum

          6  because of the diversity of my constituency and

          7  their needs.  All right.  So you can go from someone

          8  needing someone to help them advocate in Housing

          9  Court to someone with a much more complex criminal

         10  conviction concern.

         11                 Is there a common denominator, and is

         12  it fair of us to ask that when we look at quality

         13  versus cost that we can distill this in a way that

         14  we can create an instrument that will inform the

         15  process by which these services are funded in the

         16  City of New York?

         17                 MR. DEAN:  Do you want to answer that

         18  first, or you want me to go?

         19                 MS. FAHEY:  I will let you go first.

         20                 MR. DEAN:  Well I think the question

         21  is are there indicators that, well, for example,

         22  there are three providers of Appellate Services

         23  operating in the First Department, only two in the

         24  second, but the three are the organization of the

         25  Office of the Appellate Defender, the Legal Aid

                                                            24

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Society, and our office. And the question is, I

          3  guess, whether there are indicators there, which if

          4  you compare the three groups would tell you

          5  something, or if you compared all three of us to

          6  work done by the 18- b panel could you discern

          7  something, is that the question?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I don't know

          9  that it is necessarily a comparison, I think it has

         10  to do with each, the culture of each organization.

         11                 MR. DEAN:  Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  All right?

         13  Because to a certain degree, and it has been stated,

         14  you sort of determine what your own quality is.  And

         15  then you respond to our requests for services here

         16  in the City of New York.  And the Office of the

         17  Appellate Defender, you know, has certain, excuse

         18  me, the Office of the Criminal Justice Coordinator

         19  has, I guess, certain criteria that they are looking

         20  for.  And for the most part, we are looking for the

         21  lowest responsible bidder.  I mean it is not said

         22  that way, but ultimately that is, I think, a part of

         23  what goes into the thinking around how we respond to

         24  RFP, how we respond to funding for services in the

         25  City of New York.
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          2                 MR. DEAN:  Actually at the risk of,

          3  you know, speaking truth to power and so forth, the

          4  RFP process, or the procurement process for indigent

          5  defense is not based on the lowest responsible

          6  bidder.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right, I wasn't

          8   - -

          9                 MR. DEAN:  It is a human service

         10  contract - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right.

         12                 MR. DEAN: - -  so it is for the

         13  benefit of the City.  If you look at the - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I understand

         15  what you are saying, I was just breaking it down,

         16  because ultimately they are not going to pay for the

         17  same services by two providers if one is much more

         18  costly than the other.  So I was just breaking it

         19  down to that.

         20                 MR. DEAN:  Actually, they do that,

         21  so.  Yes, there are differences in cost between the

         22  providers, so they do pay differently.

         23                 MS. FAHEY:  Let me, maybe try to

         24  address some of this.  One of the things that the

         25  City looked for in the original RFP was, they
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          2  expected providers to do more, we are Appellate

          3  providers obviously, to do more than just file a

          4  brief and argue an appeal.  If the case goes to the

          5  Court of Appeals, basically we handle the case

          6  there.  If it merits going into Federal Court, a

          7  SERP petition, a habeas petition, we do that.  If it

          8  merits a 440, we do that.  Those are the kinds of

          9  things that organized providers can do.  The 18- b

         10  attorneys really can't do, unless they are just

         11  willing to eat the cost and do something without

         12  ever being paid for it.

         13                 So that is one of the big differences

         14  between organizations and individuals.  Within

         15  organizations there are, I suppose, there are some

         16  differences in philosophy as to when you go into

         17  Federal Court, when you do a 440 motion.  On the one

         18  extreme, you can say I am assigned to the Direct

         19  Appeal, that is all you get from me.  On the other

         20  end of the spectrum you can say, everyone deserves a

         21  440, regardless of whether there is merit to it or

         22  not.  We try to strike the balance and say if there

         23  is something we can do that gives the client a real

         24  shot at relief, that is not just pie in sky, let's

         25  do it for the heck of it, we feel obligated to do
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          2  it.

          3                 On the other hand, if it is something

          4  that is essentially frivolous, we don't feel

          5  obligated to do it.

          6                 So one of the things that you could

          7  look at is to what extent an organization does these

          8  things that might be considered ancillary, but that

          9  we think are part of the process of providing

         10  quality representation.  But then again, raw numbers

         11  wouldn't necessarily tell you everything, because

         12  what you want, you don't want an organization that

         13  spends all its money doing frivolous things, and

         14  doesn't spend its money doing the basic

         15  representation that you are assigned to do.  But you

         16  also don't want an organization that is putting on

         17  blinders and saying, we are just doing the basics,

         18  no frills representation here.  That doesn't serve

         19  the purpose, it doesn't serve the interest of our

         20  clients.  And I think in the long run it doesn't

         21  serve the interest of the City or the courts, or

         22  anyone.

         23                 So that is something to look at, but

         24  it is not necessarily like you could say this

         25  organization does something or other in X percent of
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          2  its cases, and that does it in Y percent of its

          3  cases, and say therefore one is better than the

          4  other. There might be a lot of differences.

          5                 I was asked recently by someone that

          6  does State Defenders Office to comment on how often

          7  we did 440 motions.  And I did, but then I realized

          8  I had to qualify that in a lot of ways, saying

          9  practice in the Second Department is different than

         10  it might be in the Third or Fourth Department, or

         11  even in the First Department because there are

         12  different court rules that apply, there is a

         13  different frequency with which leave is granted, if

         14  a 440 is denied.  There are various things you take

         15  into account, that may mean the figure for us is

         16  different from the figure for a First Department

         17  provider, or a Third or Fourth Department provider.

         18                 So there are things you can look at,

         19  but the raw numbers, I don't think are going to

         20  answer the question, they are going to be a start,

         21  but they are not going to take you all the way to

         22  assessing relative quality, which is very hard to

         23  do.

         24                 MR. DEAN:  I am not sure whether we

         25  have answered your question or not.  I feel somehow
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          2  dissatisfied that I responded to what your concerns

          3  are.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You just made it

          5  a little bit more complex for me.

          6                 MR. DEAN:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I guess what we

          8  are dealing with here are nuances, right?

          9                 MR. DEAN:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And when the

         11  Criminal Justice Coordinator has to come before the

         12  Council to account for who the Criminal Justice

         13  Coordinator is going to fund in a particular year,

         14  it then becomes a matter of, well, we made this

         15  determination because of this.

         16                 MR. DEAN:  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And so based on

         18  what he told us, those determinations are, we are

         19  trying to find out well why is it, and what accounts

         20  for that.  And so what I am trying to get at in this

         21  hearing today, and with this tool that we are trying

         22  to establish with the office, is, you know, is there

         23  an objective way, ultimately, that we can, we

         24  meaning his office, the New York City Council that

         25  negotiates the budget with the Mayor, determine
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          2  whether in fact we are servicing the people of the

          3  City of New York who require these services the best

          4  way we can under the current construct.  And whether

          5  in fact this is driven, because what we hear when we

          6  it comes to budget time is it gets down to dollars

          7  and cents, not quality necessarily.

          8                 So what we are trying to find out is

          9  how much quality matters, how we determine that, and

         10  does that become the driving force for how funding

         11  is done for organizations in our network and

         12  infrastructure for indigent defense.

         13                 MS. FAHEY:  I think the answer is the

         14  quality definitely matters.  I think, none of us

         15  would say quality doesn't matter.  The problem is

         16  that collecting numbers is not going to, in and of

         17  itself, let you assess quality.  When the Indigent

         18  Defense Oversight Committee for the Second

         19  Department evaluated the Second Department

         20  providers, and this goes back a few years now, what

         21  they did was they devised the questionnaire and gave

         22  it to judges, and gave it to prosecutors, and said,

         23  how are the people who appear in front of you, how

         24  are the people who oppose you, what is their

         25  quality.  And they based their qualitative analysis
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          2  of the various groups on large part on that, not

          3  exclusively.  But numbers alone are not going to

          4  tell you the story, I think.  And I know the

          5  Criminal Justice Coordinator's Office is in touch

          6  with the clerks of the Appellate Division, for

          7  example, and learn from them, are you happy with the

          8  groups that are appearing in front of you are there

          9  problems or not problems, or that sort of thing.

         10  And I think that is probably a tremendously valuable

         11  tool in assessing quality.  Because judges know who

         12  they are getting a good job from and who they are

         13  not, who is serving the client and who isn't.  And

         14  for that matter our adversaries know the quality of

         15  the briefs they see, the quality of the argument

         16  against them, they know who does a really good job

         17  for the clients and who doesn't.  So that might be

         18  something, a way to factor in quality.  I don't

         19  think the numbers alone are going to tell you

         20  quality.

         21                 MR. DEAN:  I think my short answer to

         22  your question is yes.  I think there are things that

         23  people could look at to discern quality.  I think

         24  that the providers who are currently being funded,

         25  either by the Council or by the Coordinator's Office
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          2  are high- quality organizations that do care about

          3  quality, and they are experienced people and they

          4  wouldn't do it any other way.

          5                 We, in my dealings with the

          6  Coordinator's Office over the last 8 years or so,

          7  haven't gotten the sense they don't care about

          8  quality.  I hear a little bit more about cost per

          9  case than I would like to.  But our cost per case is

         10  not low, and we are cost- effective, but it is not

         11  low.  They could do it cheaper, if they wanted to do

         12  it.  And my sense is that they don't want to do it

         13  that way, because the Appellate Divisions won't

         14  stand for it.

         15                 So I don't know if I have answered

         16  your questions, but certainly if you have more, I

         17  would be willing to answer them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I guess you are

         19  on another end of the spectrum.  And I am just going

         20  to be frank with you that when it comes to budget

         21  time, they are not talking about the nuances of the

         22  organizations, it gets down to it is just straight

         23  up dollars and cents.  And then, you know, members

         24  need the information to make the informed choices,

         25  because it comes down to choices.  Are we going to
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          2  fund indigent defense at this level, or are we going

          3  to fund the opening of those libraries you were

          4  talking about.  Do you see what I am saying?

          5                 So what this tool helps us to do, is

          6  to really make the case to really demonstrate what

          7  we may know from our own personal experiences, but

          8  is not a global experience.  Not something that

          9  everyone would understand or take into account. And

         10  when we are confronted with okay, these are the

         11  organizations that are baselined on an annual basis,

         12  but these are the other ones that are providing

         13  these other types of services that you have to

         14  struggle with every year, in terms of the budget how

         15  do we look at it globally so that, you know, that we

         16  are dealing with a real indigent defense network

         17  that really serves the public, and that that is not

         18  jeopardized annually, because we don't have a

         19  knowledge or a tool from which we are not

         20  speculating.

         21                 MR. DEAN:  Well we are in favor of

         22  the bill, we want you to have this information.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right.

         24                 MR. DEAN:  So that would be the way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, all right.
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          2  Well, I want to thank you both, and I appreciate

          3  your comments and your information here today.

          4  Thank you very much.

          5                 We would like to call Steve Banks

          6  from the Legal Aid Society at this time.

          7                 MR. BANKS:  Good afternoon, how are

          8  you?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good afternoon.

         10                 MR. BANKS:  We continue to be in

         11  favor of this bill, and I don't want to take up the

         12  record with too much.  We got a written statement

         13  that you have before you.  I think I just want to

         14  highlight a few things, and then happy to take any

         15  questions.

         16                 As you know the Society provides a

         17  range of services in Family Court representing

         18  children as the primary law guardian, handling a

         19  case load of 30,000 cases in the civil area, with

         20  tremendous support from the Council, we provide help

         21  in about 30,000 cases in all five boroughs.

         22                 I should have said that the work in

         23  Family Court are juvenile rights representation as

         24  law guardians to children is funded by the State

         25  Office of Court Administration.  And then with the

                                                            35

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Administration, and then certainly the Council's

          3  support we represent more than 200,000 cases at the

          4  trial and appellate level and criminal proceedings.

          5  And that has been the subject of a lot of testimony

          6  before the Council and a lot of important support

          7  for us to continue to provide those services.

          8                 As you know, the Administration in

          9  Fiscal Year '03 decided to transfer a significant

         10  portion of the 18- b caseload to the Society as a

         11  more cost effective and higher quality approach

         12  because of the belief that institutional provider

         13  could provide higher quality services and more cost-

         14  effective services.  As we have discussed at other

         15  hearings there are certainly concerns about the

         16  ability to provide an adequate defense under the

         17  constitution with the funding level, and in the last

         18  budget process the Council provided us with

         19  significant assistance in that area, and we will

         20  continue those discussions with the Administration

         21  and with the Council.  But it continues to be a

         22  concern to us in terms of the ability to provide

         23  quality representation to which our clients are

         24  entitled, and the need to have adequate funding to

         25  do that.
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          2                 At the Appellate level, there is a

          3  recent development that I noted in the other

          4  providers that just testified, is the Rockefeller

          5  Re- sentencing Law changes that has essentially

          6  created an unfunded State mandate for Appellate

          7  providers, particularly the Legal Aid Society which

          8  has a large number of these cases. And that too is

          9  something that we will have to continue to work with

         10  the Council and the Administration on because as

         11  workload increases, because of changes in State law,

         12  the burden falls upon the frontline providers to

         13  give that assistance, and quality and funding are

         14  intimately connected in that area.

         15                 The support that we have for this

         16  particular kind of reporting, is we think it is

         17  critical to have there be a focus on quality and

         18  representation.  And there are a number of

         19  indicators that could be used in this area.  In the

         20  area of appeals, for example, there has been a lot

         21  of focus traditionally on State appeals, and not so

         22  much focus on counting other kinds of proceedings,

         23  habeas proceedings, 440 proceedings, and so forth,

         24  that other providers have just talked about and you

         25  have talked about.
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          2                 I think that we agree that a straight

          3  numerical approach has its limitations.  But we

          4  certainly want to strongly suggest that in

          5  evaluating quality one has to look at the

          6  comprehensiveness of the services that are provided

          7  and the full range of the kinds of representation

          8  that is provided to clients.

          9                 In terms of the collection of data,

         10  and we have talked about this before, there are a

         11  number of different of oversight entities that we

         12  all must be accountable to, already. There is the

         13  Coordinator's Office, there is the Council, in our

         14  Family Court representation there is the Office of

         15  Court Administration, for those of us who practice

         16  in the First Department, there is the First

         17  Department Oversight Committee. There is also a

         18  proposal to have a statewide oversight entity, or at

         19  least a department- by- department entities, or some

         20  type of State oversight entity.  And it is critical

         21  that the kinds of data that everyone is requiring is

         22  at least the same, so that a provider who is

         23  required to report can collect one set of data and

         24  make one report to all of the different entities

         25  that are seeking the data.
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          2                 Inevitably as things change, in terms

          3  of our clients laws, the kind of data that is

          4  collected changes.  And so in implementing this

          5  system, I guess I want to flag as I did a year ago

          6  when we testified, that there needs to be some

          7  assessment of what kind of data collection

          8  mechanisms are needed by the providers, and then

          9  give the wherewithal of the providers to collect the

         10  data that is needed to be collected, so that it

         11  doesn't become an unfunded mandate on providers that

         12  are struggling with limited budgets to begin with.

         13  So, you know, depending on level of caseload,

         14  existing data collection systems, there may be

         15  different levels of funding that is needed to

         16  address this problem, but I want to flag it as an

         17  important issue to ensure that this initiative is

         18  successful.

         19                 Related to quality is an issue that

         20  we have talked about in testimony before, and in

         21  meetings with Council members, and that is one of

         22  ways in which quality is ensured in the Federal

         23  Criminal Justice Representation System.  It is that

         24  there is a requirement of parity of compensation and

         25  resources between the prosecution and defense.  But
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          2  obviously the Police Department, the Fire Department

          3  and the FBI, and a whole range of Criminal Justice

          4  Agencies exist, and I am not coming here to suggest

          5  that defense be exactly funded like that in the way

          6  that the prosecution is.  But there is a problem

          7  when there is a lack of parity in compensation and

          8  resources for the prosecution and the defense.  And

          9  the Federal System and in certain State Court

         10  Systems across the country, this has been addressed

         11  by a statutory requirement that there be a parity of

         12  funding and resources.

         13                 And an important addition to the

         14  Council's oversight in this area would be such a

         15  focus as well.  I don't want to delay this

         16  particular legislation, but there needs to be

         17  concern about that.

         18                 I am happy to take questions.  I know

         19  I didn't talk about the right to counsel in the

         20  civil area, I would be happy to do that, it is an

         21  important consideration - -

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  We will be

         23  getting to that very shortly.

         24                 MR. BANKS:  I thought so.  We are in

         25  favor of that as well, and would support that bill.
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          2                 So if there are any questions, we are

          3  happy to take them.  Otherwise, I want to thank you

          4  for your concern about this issue, you support for

          5  our programs, support for other programs.

          6                 Somebody testified earlier, I think

          7  it was Lynn Fahey, or it was Bob Dean, that it is

          8  not exactly the most popular constituency, but the

          9  Council has recognized the importance of constituent

         10  needs in this area, and the calls that you get are

         11  the calls that you send to us, and then we are able

         12  to provide the representation with the support.  And

         13  we want to ensure those services are of the highest

         14  possible quality.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         16  Steve.  Let me ask two questions of you.  You said

         17  at the outset that you see this bill being

         18  beneficial for the Indigent Legal Defense Bar

         19  generally, and the Legal Aid Society, specifically.

         20  Could you give us a little bit of why you see this

         21  as being a benefit?

         22                 MR. BANKS:  Well, I think, you know,

         23  ultimately all of our organizations are accountable

         24  to our clients.  And I think our clients are well-

         25  served when the oversight entities, the funding
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          2  entities are focused on the quality of our services

          3  in addition to the cost- effectiveness of our

          4  services.

          5                 You know, I want it to be a race to

          6  the bottom to provide the cheapest services that may

          7  not be the services that the clients are entitled to

          8  be receiving.  So, the Coordinator has talked at

          9  different hearings about wanting to focus on this. I

         10  know the Council has wanted to focus on this.  My

         11  sense in the provider community, is everyone is for

         12  quality of representation, and that by having a

         13  local statute requiring an annual report, it will

         14  outlive this Council, it will outlive the

         15  Administration, it will enshrined in local law to

         16  really show that the City of New York places a high

         17  priority, not just on funding representation, but

         18  ensuring it is a high quality.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Then, you spoke

         20  about the various oversight mechanisms that are

         21  already in place from the various departments to

         22  state oversight, to various other entities.  And you

         23  are the second person, I think I have heard say, and

         24  reference, I guess the changing dynamic of what is

         25  examined, or what needs to be examined.  The example
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          2  that has been stated is the Rockefeller Re-

          3  sentencing Law.  With these other entities that

          4  already require a reporting mechanism, do they have,

          5  sort of, I guess, a mechanism in place that changes

          6  with the demands on the various providers, or has it

          7  been stagnant traditionally?

          8                 MR. BANKS:  I think it varies.  I

          9  mean that is a vague answer, I know.  But I think

         10  that in the City we could really set a model by

         11  taking what are all the things that we are all

         12  currently reporting on.  Ensure that that is what is

         13  required here, and the reporting is the same, and

         14  then add anything additional that would be helpful

         15  to include.  And ensure again, that there is funding

         16  to make it possible for providers to collect data.

         17                 I think one of the things that, you

         18  know, in the trial area, obviously, we hear a lot

         19  about crime is down.  We do not entirely experience

         20  it as a provider because, although crime might be

         21  down, our obligation is to provide representation to

         22  all non- conflict cases in the arraignment shifts to

         23  which we are assigned.  And that has continued to

         24  give us an annual caseload or workload, if you will,

         25  of north of 200,000 cases.  And then as we have
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          2  talked about in terms of our workload issues, there

          3  are a certain number of cases that are going to

          4  survive arraignment. The percentage of felonies is

          5  still about, of our post arraignment cases, is still

          6  about 30 percent.  That is a different percentage

          7  than it would have been ten years ago, but on the

          8  other hand, the remaining post- arraignment

          9  misdemeanors, that 70 percent of our workload that

         10  survives arraignment, those cases they are many

         11  difference dynamics and misdemeanors today than

         12  there were ten years ago.  The things that we have

         13  talked about in terms of collateral consequences,

         14  for immigration, for loss of housing, employment,

         15  and other really serious consequences that are

         16  collateral, that are new and that were not here ten

         17  years ago.  Or similarly, the concern that we have

         18  talked about in previous hearings concerned about

         19  Operation Spotlight, which is clearly an initiative

         20  of the Administration to focus on persistent

         21  offenders.  But those cases have an impact on

         22  workload and funding, and workload, and the quality,

         23  are all inter- related.

         24                 There is as well the, in terms of the

         25  kinds of cases that have been brought, there is the
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          2  sense that when prosecutors change plea policy,

          3  which we read about a lot.  And it has a tremendous

          4  impact on workload, and then caseload, and quality,

          5  and funding is inter- related to that, so.  When one

          6  says, well if you give a provider X amount of money,

          7  they should be able to provide quality services

          8  because it is X amount of cases and X amount of

          9  money that they are getting.  And that is okay.

         10                 If a district attorney in a

         11  particular borough, I do not want to single anyone

         12  out, decides to change their plea policy, that is

         13  going to have a dramatic change on what we are able

         14  to accomplish with the cases.  And one might say,

         15  well, but the cases are just being adjourned and

         16  adjourned and adjourned, and you don't really have

         17  to do any work on them.  But you have to prepare

         18  every time because the case might go.

         19                 And all of those, that is why I think

         20  the interrelationship between parity of compensation

         21  and resources, and a focus on quality, can't be

         22  overemphasized.  And I think, you know, we, until

         23  recently had operated a Federal Defendant Program

         24  because of the lack of parity of compensation and

         25  resources, it was no longer a viable situation.  And
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          2  we now, as of October 1st, no longer operate our

          3  federal program.  But you can see a dramatic

          4  difference in a defender office that is operating on

          5  a parity level with the prosecution versus what

          6  happens in the State Court System where it does not

          7  occur.  Yet, in other jurisdictions, it does occur,

          8  and at the federal level, obviously, it occurs.  And

          9  that could make a real impact for, not just the

         10  legal aid society, but all providers, and it might

         11  stop this, well we can do it for this much, well you

         12  can do it for that much.  Let's ensure that we can

         13  do the best job with the kind of resources that the

         14  prosecution has to represent the people, criminal,

         15  people charged with crimes are entitled to adequate

         16  counsel representation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.  Let

         18  me acknowledge that we have been joined by Council

         19  Member David Yassky of Brooklyn, and I know that he

         20  has a question at this time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Good

         22  afternoon, Mr. Banks, a pleasure as always.

         23                 MR. BANKS:  How are you?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I am fine

         25  thank you. Thank you for your testimony, which I
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          2  thought had frankly several very good ideas.  On the

          3  legislation here and the issue of reports and

          4  generating some data, as you no doubt have followed

          5  the original version, introduced by Chair Clarke, of

          6  the bill was specific about what should be reported.

          7    And now we are looking at a bill that is less,

          8  says show me reports, leaves it up to the Criminal

          9  Justice Coordinator to fashion the reports.

         10                 Do you have specific thoughts as to

         11  what is useful to measure?

         12                 MR. BANKS:  We do have some specific

         13  thoughts.  I think the bill you have got now, you

         14  know, puts a stake on the ground in terms of the

         15  importance of quality, like with any local laws I

         16  found over the years there is going to be the flesh

         17  and bones that have to be put on it, and oversight

         18  from the Council about the dynamics of the report.

         19                 We are certainly willing and able to

         20  work with both the Council and Administration to end

         21  up with a good product.

         22                 I think that the change you made in

         23  the proposed legislation from one that had many

         24  different categories, and our testimony from last

         25  year raised questions about certain categories.  For
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          2  example, in the Family Law area, you know,

          3  adjournments might be a helpful thing as opposed to

          4  a negative thing, it depends on the case.  Some

          5  outcomes might be a more helpful thing to look at in

          6  both the criminal and civil area.  So for example,

          7  are you looking at convictions and acquittals or are

          8  you looking at convictions of lesser offenses, for

          9  example, that might be an indication of quality, or

         10  pleased to lesser sentences, lesser crimes and so

         11  forth.

         12                 Diversion, you know, diversion is

         13  very important to alternatives.  How many cases are

         14  in that category?

         15                 So I guess what I am saying is that

         16  some of the original components of the bill would

         17  have required a whole lot of subcategories anyway.

         18  And so one tactic would be to have a very specific,

         19  you know, detailed bill, and keep arguing about what

         20  should be in it.  Another tactic would be, I think,

         21  the one that you have taken, which is to have a bill

         22  which sets the standard, and then in discussions the

         23  Administration, the providers, I presume, as always

         24  will come up with a reporting --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right, I get
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          2  that.  And just, well, the fact that an adjournment

          3  might be a good thing in all, and bad in other

          4  context, that doesn't mean that you don't want to

          5  measure it, and then, you know, you take that data

          6  and analyze it.  It always takes, you know, numbers

          7  are just numbers, you need to figure out what they

          8  mean.

          9                 But are there two or three things

         10  that must be in, on the criminal side, that is what

         11  I'm putting you folks on, that must be in the report

         12  from the providers for it to be, you know, for it to

         13  be useful, or what are the two or three most

         14  important things you want to make sure, that we

         15  should want to make sure are reported?

         16                 MR. BANKS:  Three that I think that I

         17  mentioned before are important, and that would

         18  include number of dismissals, diversions to

         19  alternatives to incarceration, and convictions on

         20  lesser charges.  Those three would be very important

         21  ones.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, those,

         23  right, thank you.  Okay, thank you.  Thank you,

         24  Chair Clarke.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Banks, and thank you, Council member, we appreciate

          3  your testimony here today.

          4                 MR. BANKS:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I just wanted to

          6  ask Lisa Schreiberdorf of the Brooklyn Defenders,

          7  how are you?  And Daniel Warshawsky of the Office of

          8  the Appellate Defender.  Just bear in mind we are

          9  expecting the Criminal Justice Coordinator within

         10  the next 15 minutes.  So if people can, if their

         11  schedules permit, can stay for his testimony, that

         12  would be great.  If not, we will make sure that it

         13  is made available to you.

         14                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  Good afternoon.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good afternoon.

         16                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  Am I on.  Okay, I

         17  don't, I really stand by what you have already heard

         18  from most of my colleagues.  So I would like to just

         19  kind of focus on the questions you have been asking

         20  them, and give you what answers I think might be

         21  helpful, because you do seem to be interested in the

         22  kinds of things that we, as insiders, in this field

         23  might be able to tell you are really important.  And

         24  things that can be objectively quantified, which

         25  are, you know, I think I agree when I say it is very
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          2  hard to quantify quality.

          3                 When people ask me what makes your

          4  office good, I say good attorneys.  I mean that is

          5  just what it is.  All right.

          6                 So now the real question is if you

          7  take a good attorney and you give them too much

          8  work, they are not so good anymore.  And if you take

          9  attorneys who are trying to do the right thing and

         10  give them way too much, they will not do a good job.

         11                 And if you want to evaluate whether

         12  the Criminal Coordinator is doing a good job of

         13  giving all of us enough money to continue to do the

         14  best quality work, I think the simplest way to look

         15  at that is attorney workload.  Okay, the really

         16  basic piece of information that you need to know is,

         17  how many cases per attorney is this office doing.

         18  And one way that you can see how funding ties into

         19  that, is an example I will give you right now about

         20  my office, which traditionally tries to work with -

         21   - Now let me just, I just want to step back for one

         22  second and tell you that I think you would have to

         23  determine whether those numbers were appropriate or

         24  too high by each office sort of separately.  I mean

         25  I thing that is one of things, that every county
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          2  would be different, that Appellate Offices might be

          3  different.  My office would be very different than

          4  Manhattan, because, for example, we do a lot more

          5  diversion programs in Brooklyn as you know,

          6  Manhattan does a lot more trials.  They might need a

          7  different level of attorney numbers per, you know,

          8  cases per attorney.  The numbers might be very

          9  different.

         10                 But what I think you could see is if

         11  an office all of a sudden has their caseload

         12  climbing per attorney, you wonder why is that

         13  happening.  And for example, we have all been, you

         14  know, we really haven't received very much money

         15  over the last few years, none of us have.  And I

         16  think you would see that because of that many of us

         17  have fewer attorneys than we had in the past.  And I

         18  think that is something very important, that we

         19  can't do the same number of cases with fewer

         20  attorneys.

         21                 The same reason Mr. Banks described

         22  why we can't do extra cases that we are not funded

         23  to do.  Because what it does, is it imposes on the

         24  attorneys cases that add to their caseload.  So if

         25  we have extra cases that we need to do, we need
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          2  money to do it, we need funding.  So that, for

          3  example, if my office does an average of 80 cases

          4  per attorney, which I think is about a fair number,

          5  if we have 80 more cases coming in, we need, well 80

          6  more cases that are going to survive arraignment and

          7  penned, we need another attorney for that.

          8                 Now I can tell you that as a provider

          9  every one of us can tell you, you know because this

         10  is what we do, how many cases can come into

         11  arraignments for me to have a consistent caseload of

         12  approximately 80 cases, let's say.  That is from my

         13  office.  I don't want to say that that would be

         14  appropriate for an Appellate Attorney or for an

         15  attorney in another county, it may not be.

         16                 So I think, for example, in my office

         17  if an attorney picks up four to five hundred cases

         18  per year in arraignments, many are disposed, many

         19  survive, that eventually that attorney will run a

         20  caseload of about 80 cases.  So if we lose an

         21  attorney, and then we feel that we can't hire an

         22  attorney to replace that attorney, because we don't

         23  have the funding to give raises, which people

         24  deserve, then all of a sudden our caseload goes up

         25  to 90 or 95 or 100.  That is unacceptable.
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          2                 So I think if you are looking for

          3  that one sort of magic number, I don't think that

          4  anybody would really disagree with that.  I think

          5  the important thing is not to impose a number from

          6  the outside, that would not be appropriate.  You

          7  know offices, for example, NDS in Harlem, which is

          8  an excellent organization, they have to commute

          9  Downtown.  Maybe they would say that they could do

         10  two fewer cases per attorney, or they can't make

         11  that commute.  And that commute is very important to

         12  the community.  So, but I think that number would be

         13  very, very important.

         14                 I wanted to say that there are

         15  standards that have been generated by organizations

         16  that I think you should look at. I brought with me

         17  the recent standards generated by the New York State

         18  Bar Association.  There are standards by the

         19  National Legal Aid and Defender Association.  There

         20  are standards by the New York State Defenders

         21  Association, as well.  Both of them are on their web

         22  site.  In my letter I just point that out to you.

         23                 The New York Bar Association spent a

         24  lot of time, attorneys sort of doing a peer review

         25  analysis of the kinds of things that an office
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          2  should comply with, and if you are going to generate

          3  statistics, I think that they need to be compared to

          4  something that makes it meaningful.  And I think

          5  that the thing that it makes it meaningful is the

          6  fact that people who do this work have generated

          7  that information.  And rather than recreate it,

          8  perhaps, you could consider a Task Force or

          9  something that would review these standards and

         10  maybe codify them for New York City, not necessarily

         11  statutorily, but something that I think the City

         12  Council could use that would be meaningful.

         13                 So let's say if the New York State

         14  Bar Association says that attorney workload is

         15  important, for example, which they do, you might say

         16  that I would like the indigent defense providers to

         17  come with standards about what they think the right

         18  workload would be.

         19                 So, I mean, I don't know if I can

         20  really offer anything else in terms of the bill, I

         21  obviously think it is really important that

         22  information get to the City Council. Because if you

         23  know that our workloads have gone up significantly,

         24  without raw numbers, but just with carrying cases

         25  longer, and more of them exist per attorney, then
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          2  you need to address the Criminal Justice Coordinator

          3  and say why aren't you giving all of them more money

          4  to do this work, which obviously I know you know is

          5  important and needs to be properly funded.

          6                 And let me just say beyond the thing

          7  that you can look, and I would just have to disagree

          8  with outcomes, Mr. Banks, I know what he is trying

          9  to say is that if it is a lesser charge that you

         10  have done a good job for your client.  But I think

         11  outcomes are very dangerous to look at in the

         12  criminal justice field.  When you start looking at

         13  conviction rate and acquittal rate, I think that is

         14  not a good idea.  And it could depend on so many

         15  things other than the quality of the representation

         16  that you gave that client.  It could depend on your

         17  jury pool, it could depend on the District

         18  Attorney's policies in terms of prosecution, the

         19  quality of the prosecution.  I mean so many things

         20  can depend.  The best attorneys, if you go to

         21  Federal Court you have some of the best attorneys

         22  they never win, because of the kind of prosecution.

         23  So I would just say I would try to veer away from

         24  that, if I can make a recommendation.

         25                 But what I would like to look at,
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          2  what I would like you to look at is, how many

          3  investigations do attorneys do, how investigations,

          4  how many times do they send investigators out to the

          5  street to do work on the cases.  How many social

          6  work requests are there, kinds of things that we can

          7  generate fairly easily that would really tell you if

          8  the attorneys are doing a good job?  I mean if you

          9  don't investigate a case, you are not doing a good

         10  job on that case.  So I think that is the kind of

         11  thing that you could look at.  That we can generate

         12  fairly easily that would tell you if the case was

         13  winnable, we have explored every possibility for

         14  that client, we found witnesses, we did everything

         15  that we could.

         16                 So I would ask you to consider those

         17  kind of benchmarks in terms of are the attorneys

         18  doing the work that they are supposed to do?  And

         19  are they, is their caseload small enough, or

         20  appropriate enough so that they have the time to do

         21  it.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         24                 MR. WARSHAWSKY:  Good afternoon,

         25  Council member.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good afternoon.

          3                 MR. WARSHAWSKY:  I want to begin by

          4  expressing my sincere thanks to Council Member

          5  Clarke and the Committee for inviting us.  Under

          6  Council Member Clarke, this Committee has really

          7  become an indispensable key to justice for poor

          8  people in this City.  And in light of the commitment

          9  that you have shown as Chair of this Committee, we

         10  support your proposal because we feel that any

         11  increase in this Committee's involvement in the

         12  Criminal Justice Services that are provided to

         13  indigent people in this City is undoubtedly a

         14  positive step.  So for that reason alone we support

         15  it.

         16                 I really want to echo a lot of the

         17  things, and I don't want to be redundant that both

         18  Bob Dean from Center for Appellate Litigation and

         19  that Lynn Fahey said, I think I agree just about

         20  with everything they said.  Like them, we already

         21  provide very detailed quarterly reports with a lot

         22  of data to the extent that you can quantify the work

         23  we do.  So a lot of quantitative information is

         24  already provided to the Criminal Justice

         25  Coordinator's Office, and certainly should be made
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          2  available to this Committee.

          3                 We also are reviewed just as every

          4  other indigent defense organization is by the

          5  Indigent Defense Organization Oversight Committee,

          6  so their reports should certainly be shared with

          7  you, and would be helpful.

          8                 The primary thing they said that I

          9  want to echo is that I think what this City has

         10  right now are some terrific indigent defense

         11  organizations at the Appellate level.  I think of

         12  the one thing that all four of the organizations

         13  that are serving poor people who are appealing

         14  felony convictions, whether it is set of Appellate

         15  Litigation, Appellate Advocates, Legal Aid, and OAD,

         16  we all share a very deep commitment to quality and

         17  to representation for our clients, that is why we

         18  all do this work.  And I understand from your

         19  questions to Bob and Lynn, you were seeking kind of

         20  differences between the organizations.  I think the

         21  similarities fare outweigh the differences.  I think

         22  we all share a really profound commitment.  And for

         23  a lot of the reasons they expressed, I think the

         24  clients we serve are all better served by having

         25  institutional providers, organizations, than
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          2  individual attorneys.  Of course there are lots of

          3  good private attorneys, some of whom do 18- b work,

          4  but the expertise that we all develop by working

          5  exclusively and every day in an office with other

          6  experienced attorneys who do nothing other than

          7  indigent defense work, really kind of sets the

          8  organizations apart from private practitioners.  The

          9  resources that we can bring to bear not to just to

         10  do the direct Appellate work, but all kinds of

         11  collateral work, whether it be we investigate in

         12  cases, bringing collateral 440 motions, habeas

         13  corpus petitions, assisting clients when they come

         14  before the Parole Board, assisting clients with

         15  prison disciplinary issues, assisting clients to the

         16  extent we can with Immigration issues.  I think all

         17  of the organizations are really uniquely placed to

         18  provide those kinds of services.

         19                 I also want to echo that I think

         20  having a diversity of organizations really serves

         21  not only our clients, but the City.  The fact that

         22  there are several of us makes every organization

         23  more accountable.  There is something against which

         24  to compare each of us, and I think it kind of

         25  challenges all of us to ensure that we are doing the
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          2  best possible work that we can.  It gives the City a

          3  basis for making comparisons.  It allows to the

          4  extent that there are differences in practice

          5  philosophies between different attorneys and

          6  different offices. It allows each of those to play

          7  out.  And of course it also provides the opportunity

          8  in cases where there are multiple defendants for

          9  each one of those defendants to get the benefit of

         10  having a really quality attorney, among many other

         11  things.

         12                 So for all those reasons I think

         13  having a multitude of quality organizations is

         14  critical.

         15                 Just to echo again what everybody

         16  else has been saying, I think it is hard to measure

         17  quality with this quantitative data.  I mean, I am

         18  not going to say it is impossible, but it is

         19  certainly difficult.  I think, you know, it

         20  certainly is the quantitative data is important, but

         21  among the other information the Committee would

         22  want, I think, is not only success rates, although

         23  there is certainly limits to the relevance of that

         24  sometimes.  But to the extent that we get

         25  information about clients' satisfaction, feedback
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          2  from not only the courts but our adversaries, that

          3  is all important, as well as looking at the breath

          4  of services provided.  You know, the extent to which

          5  we each bring 440 motions, pursue federal habeas

          6  petitions and things of that nature.

          7                 All of that is important, and so I

          8  think we certainly support the proposal, and one

          9  thing I will say that nobody has said, because it

         10  really concerns only OAD and NDS, is that, as you

         11  noted in the proposal one thing that sets us apart

         12  is every year we have to devote a substantial amount

         13  of time and resources to try to ensure that we get

         14  continued funding, and for us that is obviously a

         15  huge burden.

         16                 I know, Council Member Clarke, you

         17  certainly have been supportive of trying to see

         18  whether there isn't a way for us to get a baseline

         19  funding in the City's budget, so that we can

         20  continue to do the work that we are all doing.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, I just

         23  want to, I heard your testimony about, you know, the

         24  trickiness of measuring, of making a kind of

         25  evaluative decisions based on outcome data.  But
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          2  isn't it still better to have the data and figure

          3  out what it means, rather than not to?  In other

          4  words, absolutely, a terrific defense lawyer may end

          5  up with a higher conviction rate than a less

          6  terrific because they take the hardest cases, I get

          7  that.  So then you look at the data and you say,

          8  well that is what is going on here.  I mean, just my

          9  experience is that numbers lead you to ask

         10  questions, and then you either, you know, there is a

         11  perfectly good explanation for an anomaly, where

         12  there isn't, well then you say, hey, there is

         13  something going on.  What do you think of that?

         14                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  There is

         15  something very troubling to me about using let's say

         16  conviction success rates to measure the DA's

         17  performance, and then using acquittal rates to

         18  measure the success of the people on the opposite

         19  sign of the coin.  I think it is very, very, I just

         20  think it is a bad idea, I really do.  I think

         21  outcomes are what they are because of very

         22  individual circumstances, and nothing about them is

         23  relevant at all to the quality of prosecutions, the

         24  quality of defense services, of the judging.  I mean

         25  I think that is a big mistake.
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          2                 I think if you want to look at number

          3  of trials, absolutely.  If you want to look at

          4  number of pleas or dismissals, ACD's other

          5  dispositions that might tell you something about the

          6  kind of workload that the attorneys can carry,

          7  absolutely.  I don't have any doubt that that is

          8  important information.

          9                 Whether a case resulted in a

         10  conviction or an acquittal, I just think you are

         11  going down a very bad road for policy reasons.  And

         12  I just think that social policy should not emphasize

         13  that winning or losing a criminal trial is a good or

         14  bad thing in any kind situation.  Because it is very

         15  much dependent on the facts of the case, whether the

         16  person is guilty or innocent.  You know what pleas

         17  offers were made to that person, who the jury is, I

         18  mean, it is completely out of the control, and it is

         19  so subject to something so much more important than

         20  even what we are talking about here.  I mean it is

         21  our entire Criminal Justice System is supposed to

         22  generate accurate, appropriate outcomes.  So I think

         23  to use that for any individual portion of it, is

         24  really a big mistake, and not appropriate, and I

         25  don't think helpful either.
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          2                 So yes, the kinds of dispositions,

          3  generically, you know, guilty plea.  I mean I do

          4  trials, so I don't do appeals, it is a different

          5  kind of thing.  But you know how many trials, how

          6  many guilty pleas, how many cases do we have in Drug

          7  Court, how many cases do we have in Mental Health

          8  Court, how many cases, you know, do we get

          9  dismissed, because we do really good legal work and

         10  are able to get dismissals.  That kind of thing, and

         11  even perhaps how many pre- trial hearings have we

         12  conducted to determine whether the police conduct

         13  was legal, how many.  Not necessarily, whether we

         14  won them, but how many do we do, because those

         15  entail work.  And going to that point shows that the

         16  attorneys are pursuing all the avenues that they

         17  have for their client.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Just out of

         19  curiosity, I mean I am ignorant, maybe this is well

         20  known, but are there great differences in caseload

         21  per attorney among the different providers?

         22                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  I would say

         23  probably yes.  I mean great difference no, but

         24  differences absolutely, significant differences.  I

         25  mean, I don't know like, as I said, I am sure while
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          2  my attorneys can carry a caseload let's say 80 to 85

          3  cases, that is the maximum.  Obviously, I would

          4  prefer it to be less, but given the fact that our

          5  District Attorney does have a lot of policies that

          6  promote diversion, and we spend a lot of time on

          7  that, but not so much time on trial.  I am sure that

          8  an attorney in Manhattan my counter- part office,

          9  cannot handle that number of cases because a huge

         10  number of those cases are actually going to go to

         11  trial, and those require a different amount of work,

         12  much more labor intensive.  So I would say yes.

         13                 But would they handle 60 cases, yes.

         14  I mean they are not going to handle five and I am

         15  handling 100.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Would we find

         17  big differences in trials per attorney among the

         18  different providers?

         19                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  Definitely and by

         20  county as well.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Oh, thank

         22  you.

         23                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  Also, different

         24  attorneys also handle different kinds of caseloads

         25  within the office, so yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well one

          3  would expect, yeah.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I had a couple

          5  of questions about, you know, capturing all of this.

          6    And you know it is coming back to that, and I

          7  don't want any of us to believe that the Council is

          8  looking at numbers in a vacuum, or would want to see

          9  a report that looks at numbers in a vacuum, because

         10  I think that is what led us to asking the questions

         11  to begin with.  We recognize that there were a

         12  number of quality providers out there in providing

         13  services throughout this City, who for whatever

         14  reason were not a part of, I guess, the

         15  Administration's Network of providers.  That there

         16  were constantly new areas of need in terms of legal

         17  representation that are not something that is a part

         18  of a baseline of what we expect our menu of indigent

         19  services to be.

         20                 So that, for instance, we are

         21  annually looking at how we fund civil defense

         22  matters for the poor in the City of New York.  We

         23  are looking at how we address Family Court issues in

         24  the City of New York.  So you know there are

         25  constantly these various areas of expertise that
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          2  don't necessarily fall within the menu that has been

          3  historically what is funded by an Administration,

          4  any Administration for that matter.

          5                 And how do we, as a Council, make the

          6  case, because there is going to come a day when

          7  maybe there won't be a Council member or a number of

          8  Council members that are in tuned with just how

          9  important this is for the infrastructure of indigent

         10  defense.  How do we make the case, how does the

         11  Administration see for itself through its own

         12  mechanisms the importance of reshaping of what it

         13  considers its obligation financially for indigent

         14  defense in the City of New York, and that is where a

         15  lot of this thinking is coming from.  And

         16  recognizing the nuances in each of these areas, you

         17  guys, I am learning a whole lot more about law than

         18  I thought I would ever learn, these 440, and habeas

         19  proceedings.  And you know those are nuances that I

         20  think have to be taken into account as we look at,

         21  and as we encourage the CJC to look at how we

         22  provide the comprehensive indigent service here in

         23  the City of New York.  And that is what drives this

         24  whole idea of quality versus quantity. And we know

         25  that when you are asked for numbers, that doesn't
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          2  tell a fraction of the story of what it takes to

          3  represent people in this City.  And those numbers

          4  don't represent the expertise that you must keep on

          5  staff, the amount of energy that is put into various

          6  court proceedings.  The comprehensive support

          7  systems that you have in place to address the

          8  collateral issues or consequences.  How do we

          9  capture that?  Is there a tool?  I mean even in the

         10  tools that you are all using now, is there something

         11  that can be distilled from each of those quarterly

         12  reports from the various entities from the peer

         13  reviews that set the standards, that we can create

         14  here as a model?

         15                 So that when Council members get in a

         16  room and start talking about, well you know, they

         17  got funding last, we have been giving funding to

         18  them, the Administration, you know, is not going to

         19  budge on this, that they understand the context in

         20  which all of this defense is taking place in our

         21  City. Because we don't get a full picture.  Most

         22  Council members won't get a full picture, because it

         23  is something that is taken for granted.

         24                 MR. WARSHAWSKY:  Yeah, I am not sure

         25  what the answer is.  I think it is really difficult
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          2  to quantify any of this.  I think, you know, part of

          3  it, it just may be that you need a lot of anecdotal

          4   - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Maybe the term

          6  has to be qualify, not necessarily quantify.  How do

          7  we qualify what we are doing, and how do we create a

          8  tool that sort of, you know, gets to that?  Is there

          9  anything that you are doing now that does that?

         10                 MS. SCHREIBERDORF:  You know on a

         11  certain level I really have to say that I think what

         12  you are trying to do is to, I think what is

         13  troubling you, and I really appreciate it, is the

         14  idea that there were so many different ideas about

         15  what an indigent defense provider should be doing.

         16  And you get all that information, and so many of us,

         17  we try, there are disputes within the community

         18  about what we should be providing.  And because of

         19  changes in the laws, particular on the collateral

         20  consequences, most of us have tried to add services

         21  within our office to help our clients.  And, for

         22  example, I did Family Court.  The City Council gave

         23  me money to do Family Court, you know, for the same

         24  clients that we were already representing a few

         25  years ago, but then that money wasn't available
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          2  after that.

          3                 So I guess the idea, unfortunately,

          4  after September 11th, you know, it really changed

          5  things.  And so to the extent that we, I think the

          6  answer really would be to sit down, really have some

          7  sort of analysis of what makes a good indigent

          8  defense office, and then have that, the

          9  recommendation of that be what it is that the City

         10  is supposed to strive to provide.  And I think that

         11  goes a lot further.  I mean I think that type of

         12  idea obviously goes a lot further than anything you

         13  can generate by statistics.

         14                 I mean you could find out if people

         15  are working hard, you can find out if people are

         16  qualified to do the work they are doing,

         17  essentially.  And if their workload is not too high,

         18  and if the funding is sufficient for that.

         19                 But I think if you really want to go

         20  into the real policy of what kind of an Indigent

         21  Defense Office, do we as a City, want to be

         22  providing.  That is a very big task, I think it is a

         23  meaningful task.  I think it would require a lot

         24  more than just numbers and money.  I mean it just

         25  does, it is like what kind of services do we want to
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          2  give the clients of the City of New York, what do we

          3  want to give them.

          4                 So I welcome that discussion.  I

          5  think most of us would be very willing to have that

          6  discussion in a meaningful way.  And obviously Bar

          7  Association are working on that in depth in New York

          8  State because that is a big issue, and perhaps, more

          9  can be gleaned from that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to

         11  thank you both very much for your testimony.

         12                 MR. WARSHAWSKY:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I appreciate it.

         14    I understand that our Coordinator is here, and

         15  there he is. Coordinator Feinblatt, welcome,

         16  welcome.  Good afternoon.

         17                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         18  FEINBLATT:  Thank you for having us here today.  It

         19  is always good to be heard on this issue and on your

         20  revised bill regarding the creation of an annual

         21  report on the quality of indigent representation in

         22  the Criminal and Family Courts.

         23                 As you know, my name is John

         24  Feinblatt, and I am the Criminal Justice Coordinator

         25  for the City of New York, and over the last three
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          2  years I have testified before you a number of times

          3  on the issue of indigent representation.  And each

          4  time I have testified I have said, quite frankly,

          5  that a healthy, criminal justice system requires a

          6  strong defense, just as it requires a strong

          7  prosecution.

          8                 Last October, I believe I testified

          9  about your original bill, which required the

         10  Criminal Justice Coordinator to assess the quality

         11  of all providers of indigent representation based on

         12  a list of objective criteria in addition to cost per

         13  case.  The revised version before us today omits the

         14  list of specific criteria, and instead requires that

         15  the Coordinator's Office to determine what

         16  additional data should be included in this annual

         17  performance evaluation.

         18                 Let me begin by saying quite frankly

         19  we agree with the intent behind this bill, which is

         20  to improve the methods by which we assess the

         21  quality of indigent representation in New York City.

         22    Indigent defendants deserve representation that is

         23  both of high quality and cost- effective.  And

         24  ensuring that they get it is an absolutely

         25  worthwhile goal.
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          2  We also appreciate the discretion that the proposed

          3  bill gives to the Coordinator's Office to decide

          4  what kind of data should be included in a report

          5  that assesses the quality of the indigent

          6  representation.  And as this Committee is aware, we

          7  felt that the list of quantitative factors mandated

          8  by the original bill did not tell us about the

          9  quality of performance, and also raised some

         10  significant resource and data collection issues.  I

         11  thank the Committee for responding to the concerns

         12  that we raised the last time that we discussed it.

         13                 But, as I have said, and I have a

         14  feeling you probably have heard from others today,

         15  this is a complicated business.  The criteria

         16  suggested by the Council in the original bill and by

         17  others in the field only begins to scratch the

         18  service when it comes to evaluating the quality of

         19  representation in order to develop true indicators

         20  of performance, we need to engage in deeper

         21  analysis.

         22                 First, we need to identify criteria

         23  that are potentially indicative of both quality and

         24  quantity of work.

         25                 Next, and just as importantly, in
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          2  fact I would argue even more importantly and harder,

          3  we need to test those criteria and those hypothesis

          4  to determine if our original suppositions are

          5  correct.  Only then will be in a position to

          6  identify and apply true and reliable indicators of

          7  quality.

          8                 For these reasons, my office has

          9  begun the process of commissioning a study that will

         10  attempt to develop clear and robust measures of the

         11  quality and quantity of work by the indigent defense

         12  providers.  In order to preserve the integrity of

         13  the procurement process, unfortunately, I am

         14  prevented from discussing the specifics of it at

         15  this time.  However, I can say that we do expect to

         16  finalize the details of the project by the end of

         17  the next month, and at that time I would be happy to

         18  meet with the Committee to provide more detail about

         19  it.

         20                 I fully understand the Council's

         21  desire to legislate standards in this important

         22  industry, and your efforts to encourage us to

         23  examine more thoroughly the question of what those

         24  standards should be are greatly appreciated.  While

         25  this is obviously a complicated question, we are
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          2  optimistic that the study that we hope to undertake

          3  will significantly add to our knowledge base.

          4  However, until we have completed project and made

          5  ourselves significantly smarter on this issue, it

          6  would probably be premature to legislate in this

          7  area.

          8                 I will be happy to take any

          9  questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         11  Coordinator Feinblatt.  I can appreciate your

         12  testimony here today.  We did her from a number of

         13  the providers, and certainly I have learned some new

         14  stuff today, like 440 proceedings, and habeas

         15  proceedings, and it got very technical of the

         16  nuances in this area are as probably as diverse as

         17  the population that they serve.  And so I can

         18  appreciate your perspective here.

         19                 I guess one of the questions I would

         20  like to ask is, did you have a timeframe for the

         21  procurement of someone to conduct the study, and did

         22  you have some sort of idea about how soon you would

         23  like to see it underway and ended?

         24                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         25  FEINBLATT:  Well we expect that the procurement
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          2  process to be completed by the end of the next

          3  month.  I think at that point we hope to have a good

          4  sense of the direction that we are taking.  And I

          5  think the next step for us is, and I would be

          6  delighted to do that, is to sit down with you and we

          7  can discuss the parameters of it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  Some of

          9  what we were, I guess in the Council concerned

         10  about, is the, I guess, menu of indigent services

         11  that are actually provided to the City of New York,

         12  whether it is through initiatives that are funded

         13  and negotiated in the budget through the Council, or

         14  you know, baseline services that are in the Mayor's

         15  Executive Budget.  And I guess how we, at some point

         16  in time, I guess evolve into, I guess an

         17  acknowledgment of the various areas that are now

         18  sort of part of the bedrock of indigent defense in

         19  the City of New York.

         20                 What we found in today's testimony is

         21  that that too almost is an evolutionary process

         22  based on what happens, things that may happen at the

         23  State level, various laws bearing on other laws,

         24  some of what is happening in various departments in

         25  different parts of the City, something termed
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          2  collateral consequences.

          3                 Have you begun any conversations

          4  around that or any thinking around that as we look

          5  towards what next year would look like in the City

          6  of New York in providing indigent services?

          7                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          8  FEINBLATT:  Well I think that one of questions when

          9  you assess quality is clearly are you paying

         10  attention to not only the case before the court, but

         11  the collateral consequences of a disposition that

         12  might be taken either as part of a plea bargaining

         13  process or a trial.  And I think it is fair game to

         14  expect that good attorneys pay attention to those,

         15  and so if one were imagining how to assess the

         16  quality, those would be things you want to take into

         17  account.

         18                 When we met last year in your

         19  testimony you talked about looking at some more

         20  comprehensive measures is that what the study is

         21  going to be doing, or have you already begun some of

         22  that work eternally?

         23                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         24  FEINBLATT:  I think that obviously we have give some

         25  thought to it, but I think that that is why this
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          2  study is really going to try to attempt.  As you

          3  know, this is an area there is very little valuable

          4  research on this issue.  The national standards are

          5  30 years old; they are national standards.  They

          6  don't have a huge amount of bearing to local

          7  jurisdictions, and the other standards that I think

          8  are out there are ones that are produced by the ABA

          9  and the National Legal Aid and Defender Association

         10  are performance guidelines, but they, in all

         11  frankness, they are more bromides than they are

         12  anything else.  Like somebody handling a criminal

         13  defense case ought to be familiar with criminal

         14  procedure law.  I think that goes without question.

         15

         16                 And so I think that if you look

         17  around at that standards that currently exist, you

         18  know they are lacking.  You know, I think that they

         19  are how to guides.  But I think in New York we pride

         20  ourselves way beyond how to guides.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And so, I am

         22  sorry, but you said you expect to have the RFP out

         23  for the study by next month. And did you want to

         24  have the study completed within a year's time, or

         25  did you have a sense - -
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          2                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          3  FEINBLATT:  Well the procurement process will be

          4  completed at the end of next month, and I think that

          5  at that point I would be delighted to discuss it

          6  with you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And then that,

          8  is it that the people who respond would give you a

          9  sense of what the timeframe would be to try to, I

         10  guess, get all the data and do a comprehensive

         11  study?

         12                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         13  FEINBLATT:  I think certainly timeframe is one of

         14  the issues, and as I say, when the process is

         15  complete, I would be delighted to come over myself

         16  and discuss it with you and other interested

         17  members.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  We are

         19  just, I guess, anxious, as I am sure you are, to see

         20  how we can really address what has been a mutual

         21  concern of ours, and you know, before I am term

         22  limited.

         23                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         24  FEINBLATT:  That is a promise.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Council Member
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          2  Yassky did you have any comments or questions at

          3  this time?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

          5  Chair Clarke. And I will ask you to forgive me

          6  Director Feinblatt if I am repeating from a year

          7  ago.  I also, I don't have a clear memory of, I know

          8  we discussed this at the hearing a year ago, and I

          9  may be repeating.  But just so I understand the

         10  context here, I guess, right is that each year you

         11  have to make some decisions about how much funding

         12  to devote to these efforts, and how to allocate it

         13  among the various providers.  And so I assume that

         14  in doing you so you want to have some sense of the

         15  quality of the services being provided, right?  Is

         16  that fair?

         17                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR:  Well

         18  decisions, first of all, there is an RFP process.

         19  It is certainly not an annual process, and there is

         20  an RFP process for the providers. And there really

         21  are two questions that I think that are at hand. One

         22  is what is the caseload look like, therefore, you

         23  can size the allocations to the caseload.  And that

         24  is obviously a much more complicated question than

         25  just how many cases, because of course, for instance

                                                            81

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  in New York City over the last four years felony

          3  arraignments have dropped virtually 20 percent,

          4  violations have increased, but those are the cases

          5  that require the least amount of work.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.

          7                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          8  FEINBLATT:  Hearings are down significantly.  I

          9  think hearings are down, trials are down I think 34

         10  percent in Criminal Court, 14 percent in Supreme

         11  Court.  Hearings over the last two years have been

         12  down 30 percent in Criminal Court, 15 percent in

         13  Supreme Court.  So part of what you try to analyze

         14  is how much work there is and after you ask that

         15  question, you ask a far more important question,

         16  which is what kind of work there is in the system.

         17  And that is when you have to look at the caseload

         18  and drops in crime, and use of hearings and trials.

         19                 Then there is a second question,

         20  which is, are the providers providing quality

         21  representation, and that is really the subject, I

         22  think, the legislation that we are discussing today.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And that is a

         24  question that is of interest, obviously.  I mean I

         25  am not being rhetorical, but right, that is the
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          2  context here is that that is part of the  - -  By

          3  the way, when you say not annual, and again forgive

          4  my ignorance, how often is the RFP process?

          5                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          6  FEINBLATT:  The last RFP, is it every six years, it

          7  has been every six years, I think, the RFP process.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  But does that

          9  mean that each year you don't make funding

         10  decisions?

         11                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         12  FEINBLATT:  You make funding decisions, but you are

         13  not changing providers.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  But you might

         15  vary how much one provider is opposed to another, or

         16  no, that is pretty, whatever your overall level is,

         17  is split the same way?

         18                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         19  FEINBLATT:  No, we have made adjustments to the

         20  funding.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, and that

         22  is done annually?

         23                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         24  FEINBLATT:  Yes, as far as contracting process.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.  So
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          2  each year you have to make some decisions, funding

          3  decisions about how much overall, and then how to

          4  allocate that.

          5                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          6  FEINBLATT:  Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And then

          8  presumably in the course of making those decisions,

          9  quality factors in one way or another.  Well maybe,

         10  if not tell me, but I guess that is my assumption.

         11  My assumption is part of the, you know, reason that

         12  we are here.  What data do you look at?  I mean that

         13  is my question.  Because I am trying to figure out

         14  this bill, do you do this already?  Is this, do you

         15  already collect data that you then use to assess

         16  provider quality?

         17                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         18  FEINBLATT:  We look at data on a macro level about

         19  what is happening in the Criminal Justice System,

         20  extremely important, in fact, the first set of data

         21  that you want to look at.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, but do

         23  you look at provider- by- provider data?

         24                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         25  FEINBLATT:  Yes, of course.  Each of the providers
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          2  have performance standards, and so, obviously, you

          3  want to look at how they have performed under those

          4  performance standards.  I think that the legislation

          5  that we have been discussing has wanted to go beyond

          6  that, and really go at how do you know whether they

          7  are, whether an organization is providing the most

          8  comprehensive, the most aggressive types of defense,

          9  and that is a difficult question, because it is not

         10  just an accounting question.  And I think that has

         11  been the discussion here.  Quantity isn't just a

         12  counting question, quality isn't just a counting

         13  question.  There is very little on the national

         14  scene or locally that has been effective in really

         15  trying to asset that.

         16                 Let me give you an example that

         17  actually goes to, more to quantity of work than

         18  quality.  Some people could argue that the more that

         19  the Legislature has, passes laws that have mandatory

         20  jail time, like the Predict Felony Law, one could

         21  argue that that causes more work.  Another person, I

         22  think could just as eloquently argue that, in fact,

         23  it is less work, because in fact there is less

         24  leeway.  Both of those hypothesis could be correct.

         25  I think that what, some of what we are asking is to
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          2  really test those hypothesis.  Some people could

          3  argue that the more that we have specialized courts,

          4  the more work is required of a defense agency.

          5  Others might argue that it is less work because the

          6  plea goes quicker, and the time spent in court

          7  afterwards is really only for monitoring.  Either

          8  hypothesis might be right.  One could soundly argue

          9  those.  It is time to really try to come up with

         10  some methodology to try to answer it. So those are

         11  the kinds of issues that I think that people pose,

         12  and I think that people can be pretty articulate on

         13  both sides of those issues.  And so I think what the

         14  Chairperson is trying to do right now, is to sort of

         15  say, okay, we have heard the hypothesis, let's try

         16  to answer the questions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, indeed.

         18  And I guess the only question I am asking is,

         19  whether that is something that you do now.  And let

         20  me just sort of give an answer that helps me.  Yes.

         21                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         22  FEINBLATT:  Of course it is something that we do

         23  now, but it is not a science.  And I think what this

         24  office is trying to do is to have it be a more

         25  research- based enterprise then it currently it is.

                                                            86

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And in doing

          3  it now, are there data that to you are albeit, not

          4  as useful as a comprehensive study might be,

          5  nonetheless, you know, indicate, useful indicators

          6  of quality representation, and then what are those?

          7  That is my question.  I am just curious on what the

          8  current practice is, what do you look at now to say,

          9  you know, the quality of trial representation for

         10  indigent defendants from provider X is at the level

         11  we want to be or not, or not at the level of others,

         12  or are those questions that we ask?  These are, this

         13  is a genuine question, I don't pretend to know the

         14  answer.

         15                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         16  FEINBLATT:  I think that, excuse me, each, again,

         17  each of the providers has performance measures that

         18  are obviously the first things that we look at.

         19  Those performance measures have become more

         20  sophisticated over time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Are the same,

         22  you know, for people providing, let's say trial

         23  representation, are they the same measures for each

         24  of the providers?

         25                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR
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          2  FEINBLATT:  The alternative providers have had a

          3  different set of measures, because they are much

          4  smaller than the Legal Aid Society, which up to a

          5  couple of years ago had no performance measures.

          6  One of the things that this Administration did in

          7  the first year was to impose performance measures on

          8  the Legal Aid Society, there were absolutely none in

          9  the contract, none.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Are the

         11  performance measures, I mean what are they, just the

         12  simple ones that I could understand, are they

         13  expressed in like dollars per trial, dollars per

         14  case?

         15                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         16  FEINBLATT:  They are quantitative in the sense that,

         17  for instance, when we looked at the Legal Aid

         18  Contract and looked at the Legal Aid performance,

         19  one of the things that we found was unlike the

         20  alternative providers they were handling a very,

         21  they were handling a far smaller percent of the

         22  cases in each arraignment part in which they

         23  appeared then the alternate providers were.  There

         24  was no reason for that that was apparent to any of

         25  us.  And therefore, in the first contract renewal
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          2  that we did with the Legal Aid Society along with

          3  some significant adjustment to their budget, we

          4  imposed performance providers.

          5                 But it raised some very interesting

          6  questions because of course the standard should have

          7  been, one might hypothesize, that they should be

          8  taking every non- conflict case that 18- b, if you

          9  look at the original legislation was really there to

         10  take conflict cases.  But it raised an interesting

         11  question because not anybody in the system

         12  understood what percent of cases on a macro level,

         13  had conflicts.  I seems like a simple question, but

         14  nobody had ever studied that.

         15                 Our office began to study it very

         16  closely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, I get

         18  it, so one --

         19                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         20  FEINBLATT:  And then began to make an adjustment

         21  based on that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  One

         23  performance measure was, you know, percentage of

         24  cases that come into the arraignment part that they

         25  end up taking.  I get that.
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          2                 Are there measures then dealing with

          3  their handling of the cases, I don't know, percent

          4  that go to trial, percent that do in which there is

          5  an investigation, investigators assigned as was

          6  suggested before?

          7                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          8  FEINBLATT:  No, those are - -

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Again, I

         10  don't know what the answers are, I'm just curious.

         11                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         12  FEINBLATT:  Those things about the quality of how a

         13  case is handled are not things that we have looked

         14  at in a, in a way that we are contemplating as we go

         15  forward.  Those would be some of the types of

         16  questions that would be asked.  But the point that I

         17  think that needs to be made, and perhaps you

         18  understand it, is the counting is a very difficult,

         19  you know, prospect.  Does the fact that one attorney

         20  try more cases than another mean that one attorney

         21  is better than the other, or are they just a better

         22  assessor of the case.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well maybe it

         24  means they are worse, because they spend less time.

         25  I don't know.
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          2                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          3  FEINBLATT:  It could either.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes.

          5                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          6  FEINBLATT:  And that is why I think, all of the

          7  people who have testified about this, and the Chair

          8  has recognized is that these are complicated waters,

          9  and why one needs to really test some propositions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Fair, look,

         11  again, John, I really don't know anything about

         12  serious, so I am not trying to trip your right edge,

         13  I am just trying to learn.

         14                 It seems to me, I guess there are

         15  three possible positions one might take listening to

         16  you.  One is quality of performance is data, you

         17  know, impossible to measure.  Data is effectively

         18  useless, which is possible.  Because, you know. Like

         19  your example, cases per attorney, trials per

         20  attorney that might mean you are really good, that

         21  might mean you are really bad because you are

         22  shoddy, who knows, so data is useless.  Data is kind

         23  of theoretically useful but we haven't figured out

         24  how to use it yet, and we are planning to, which I

         25  think is your position.  Or three, data is useful
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          2  and we are already using it, and is how.  And I

          3  think that you are telling me number two, I don't

          4  want to put words in your mouth, but this is the way

          5  I understand it.

          6                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          7  FEINBLATT:  I think I am telling you pretty clearly,

          8  we use some data, but the deeper questions of

          9  quality need to be tested in a research- based - -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.

         11                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         12  FEINBLATT:  And those are the kinds of things that

         13  we are prepared to undertake.

         14  COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  On the performance part

         15  then, what are the data that are currently in use,

         16  just so I understand how the professionals here

         17  think about this.

         18                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         19  FEINBLATT:  One obviously looks at things like the

         20  number of cases that you, the number of cases that

         21  are handled, those are what the performance measures

         22  are based on.  Those performance measures are, we

         23  don't come up with them arbitrarily, obviously, we

         24  come up with them based on budget and on caseload.

         25  And those primarily are about how many cases are you
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          2  handling.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right, I got

          4  that, I got that there is the number of cases taken.

          5                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          6  FEINBLATT:  Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Are there

          8  data that are currently in use dealing with handling

          9  of cases that are taken, or are we in that number

         10  two category of, you know, data could be useful, but

         11  we are not there yet.

         12                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         13  FEINBLATT:  I think we are mostly in that number two

         14  category.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.

         16                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         17  FEINBLATT: Obviously we pay attention also to

         18  reputation, a relatively, you know, not a data-

         19  based conclusion, but obviously we make it our

         20  business to understand the reputation of the

         21  providers, and also pay attention, obviously to the

         22  approach that they take to cases. And so when one

         23  prepares a budget, or proposes a budget, we don't

         24  just see it cost X to handle this many cases, but we

         25  want this percent of social workers on, we want this
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          2  percent of investigators on, we want attorneys that

          3  understand the civil implications of criminal

          4  practice.  And so the budget can be quite revealing

          5  on how robust the staffing is and what their

          6  approach to a criminal case is, and obviously we

          7  look at that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, I

          9  understood that. Are there differences, you know,

         10  significant differences among the providers on some

         11  of the dimensions that we are discussed earlier,

         12  like percentage of defenders that are diverted from

         13  trial and to alternative for?

         14                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         15  FEINBLATT:  There are differences in approach and in

         16  terms I think some of the most significant

         17  differences can be seen in the extent to which

         18  providers also staff up their shops to look at some

         19  of the civil implications of criminal cases.  I

         20  think you can see some pretty significant

         21  differences in the use of non- legal staff in terms

         22  of social workers.  I think you can see some pretty

         23  significant differences in whether office organizes

         24  itself around team approach or whether they organize

         25  themselves individually, where it sort of, you have
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          2  people sort of basically all working sort of as

          3  separate provides versus separate counsel rather

          4  than working on a team, which one could hypothesize

          5  might put them in a position to sort of cover a

          6  larger field beyond the criminal work.

          7                 So there are significant differences

          8  in practice approach.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  You know is

         10  there a conventional wisdom among defendants about

         11  which providers they would like to have?  I mean you

         12  could see that being the case, I just don't know if

         13  it is or not.

         14                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         15  FEINBLATT:  I think you can, there are clearly

         16  differences in what we hear anecdotally.  I don't

         17  think it is science, so I am not so sure it is worth

         18  talking about.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Repeating,

         20  like any gossip, fair enough.  Are there significant

         21  costs differences among the providers in, you know,

         22  dollars per - -

         23                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         24  FEINBLATT:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Who is the
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          2  costliest, I just don't know.

          3                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          4  FEINBLATT:  Well of the City- funded providers,

          5  Legal Aid Society is more costly than the

          6  alternative providers as a group.  However, the

          7  alternative providers among themselves vary.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And this is

          9  cost, like cost per, not just how much money we

         10  spend, but cost per - -

         11                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         12  FEINBLATT:  No, this is cost per case.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: - - per case,

         14  obviously, yes.  And I mean is it twice as much, I

         15  don't know, what does automatic do, is it 10 percent

         16  higher, or 20, or 50?

         17                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         18  FEINBLATT:  I would be glad to provide you the

         19  background, the data.  It is certainly data that we

         20  would be delighted to provide and you can see the

         21  cost differences.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         23  Thank you, Chair.  The Counsel was reminding me, on

         24  your, I heard your back and forth with the Chair, on

         25  the timetable of your study, is there kind of an
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          2  outside date that you expect to have that by?

          3                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

          4  FEINBLATT:  The procurement will be completed the

          5  end of next month, we will be glad to go over it

          6  with you at that point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, there is

          8  no - -

          9                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         10  FEINBLATT:  Data we can ask it 10 different ways,

         11  but that is going to be my answer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         14  Council Member Yassky and Coordinator Feinblatt.  I

         15  just wanted to let you know that prior to your

         16  arrival we did hear from a number of the

         17  organizations, and I think that without exception

         18  they were in favor of this legislation.  There were

         19  some concerns around there being a burden of

         20  particularly among organizations that would be

         21  responsible for reporting to multiple entities

         22  around, you know, the work that they do.  And the

         23  data gathering of what the data would actually mean.

         24    But I think that everyone wants to get to the

         25  bottom line of, you know, how we, I guess, set the
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          2  standard for quality representation in the City of

          3  New York.  And then how we afford to address the

          4  diversity within the indigent defense community.

          5                 So I want to thank you for your

          6  testimony here today, and ask that you bear in mind

          7  that this is something that we are really focused

          8  on, very focused on.  And we appreciate your focus

          9  on it as well, and look forward to having further

         10  conversations with you once the RFP process has

         11  moved forward.

         12                 CRIMINAL JUSTICE COORDINATOR

         13  FEINBLATT:  Thanks millions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you all

         15  very much for attending today's hearing, and it is

         16  adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing adjourned at 3:12 p.m.)
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